
Tensions in the Formosa Straits in the late summer of 1954 rose against
the larger background of America’s Cold War fear of Soviet-directed
global communist expansion and Communist Chinese regional aggres-
sion.1 After the Communist victory over the Nationalists on the main-
land in the Chinese civil war in 1949, the defeated Nationalists, led by
Chiang Kai-shek, took refuge on the island of Formosa (now more
commonly referred to as Taiwan) and a series of offshore islands in
close proximity to the mainland (which can be seen with the naked
eye), in hopes of an eventual return. Because American decision makers
saw Communist Chinese actions as directed by the Soviet Union,
Communist aggression took on a broader global significance as part of
the United States’ grand strategy of containing Soviet expansion. With
the outbreak of the Korean War in June 1950, the United States took
explicit action to protect Formosa with President Harry Truman’s order
to the Seventh Fleet to interpose itself between Formosa and the main-
land. By the time Eisenhower took office, Formosa had become an
important bulwark (although not formalized through treaty) in con-
taining communist expansion. Although the American commitment to
protect the offshore islands remained intentionally ambiguous, any U.S.
response to aggression against them would inevitably have had greater
global consequences.
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American policy toward Communist China also implied serious
domestic implications, given the acrimonious debate over “who lost
China” following the Communist victory in 1949. Support in Congress
was strong, especially among the more conservative members of the
Republican Party—Senator William Knowland (R, Calif.) in particu-
lar—for giving the Nationalists political and military assistance in their
continuing effort to take back the mainland. So when the Communist
Chinese took aggressive action in the late summer of 1954, more was at
stake for American decision makers than several tiny islands.

On September 3, 1954, Communist Chinese forces began heavy
shelling of the Nationalist-held coastal island of Quemoy, which raised
the specter of a move against the whole chain of offshore islands. Given
the importance of the Nationalists as an ally and the potential damage
to American prestige from the loss of Quemoy or the other offshore
islands, the Eisenhower administration decided that Formosa and the
offshore islands, which also included the island of Matsu and the
Tachen chain, needed to remain in friendly hands. But the United
States also equally feared war over the islands, and even though all deci-
sion makers agreed that Formosa needed to be defended, a definite poli-
cy toward the offshore islands remained elusive. The administration
considered a range of options, from publicly refusing to defend them to
using nuclear weapons to protect them.

After intense deliberations, Eisenhower attempted to avoid either of
these extremes by adopting a two-track policy: the dispute over the off-
shore islands would be submitted to the United Nations Security
Council by a “neutral” third party, and in the meantime, the United
States would negotiate a defense treaty with the Nationalists. In early
1955, to show its support for the administration’s approach, Congress
approved a resolution authorizing the president to use force to protect
Formosa, the Pescadores, and “related territories of that area now in
friendly hands.” Despite these moves, tensions later grew in February,
March, and April, with the administration seriously considering the use
of nuclear weapons amid growing fears of an imminent Communist
invasion of Formosa. War was averted, however, when in April 1955
Communist Chinese leader Chou En-lai offered to negotiate.2

Although the offshore islands remained the center of intense concern
through mid-1955, the case study considers the period when the Eisen-
hower administration initially debated and formulated a response (Sep-
tember, October, and November 1954—from the outbreak of the
shelling to the beginning of negotiations on the mutual defense treaty).

The Crisis Context52



Although the Communist threat to the offshore islands did not star-
tle decision makers (Eisenhower later recalled in his memoirs that it “did
not come as a complete surprise”), the administration was surprised by
the scale of action and the timing of the assault, since they expected only
minor skirmishes. In his August 5 report on the Far East, Dulles stressed
that “diversionary” attacks on the offshore islands were possible, but he
expected no major moves from the communists in the area, and instead
thought that the Communist Chinese would make the offshore islands
a diplomatic issue. When the mainland Chinese spoke threateningly
about Formosa during the summer, State Department analysts inter-
preted their statements as propaganda moves to attract international
attention. After the Communists engaged in minor artillery shelling of
the islands, military analysts described it as merely a “pinprick” of little
significance following the previous propaganda. Military observers also
dismissed an August buildup across from Quemoy as not an immediate
threat to the islands. But the larger scale of the Communist Chinese
assault in September defied these expectations, as did the timing of the
attack, since on August 18, military officials observed that no invasion of
the islands in the area was anticipated in the near future. The end of the
“invasion season,” which lasted from April to mid-July, may have rein-
forced these conclusions.3

As they confronted these issues, public opinion limited the decision
makers in significant ways and at critical junctures. Although concerns
with American prestige and the reaction by U.S. allies largely deter-
mined choices during problem representation, as policymakers contin-
ued to ponder the matter, Dulles eliminated certain options because of
potential public opposition as the administration sought to find a viable
policy. When faced with the need to choose a policy, Eisenhower reject-
ed the use of force to defend the offshore islands primarily because he
feared public opposition. His uncertainty about potential allies’ reac-
tions also reinforced his misgivings about domestic politics. However,
the administration concluded that the United States could not abandon
the islands because of the implications for American prestige and the
psychological impact of their loss on important allies. Limited by
domestic and international pressure, the administration thus settled on
an option they hoped would avoid the choice between fighting to pro-
tect the islands or abandoning them altogether. It chose instead to sub-
mit the issue to the United Nations. The administration also decided to
negotiate a defense treaty with the Nationalists to counteract any possi-
ble political and psychological damage the UN resolution might cause.
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Once committed to this policy, public opinion affected the timing, but
not the substance, of the administration’s implementation efforts.
Although the public’s influence fluctuated somewhat over the course of
the case, public opinion served as an important constraint on the direc-
tion of policy after the shelling.

These actions have important implications for realist and Wilsonian
liberal theories and the beliefs model. As I argued in chapter 1, of all the
decision contexts considered, the realist expectation that decision mak-
ers will ignore public opinion when formulating policy is most likely to
be correct in crises. Decision makers may, however, attempt to influence
public opinion while implementing a decision. But Wilsonian liberals
expect public opinion to influence policy in crises because decision
makers may be held back by their anticipations of public opinion and
perceptions of the opinion context. Since realist and Wilsonian liberal
theories suggest different predictions in a case in which realist explana-
tions are expected to predominate, this case provides a good opportuni-
ty to examine the realist and Wilsonian liberal claims concerning the
influence of public opinion.

The beliefs model suggests a different pattern of public opinion’s
influence. If Eisenhower perceived at some point that public opinion
would not support a particular policy option, especially an aggressive
one, and could not be persuaded to support it, he would probably be
constrained by the public’s view. Otherwise, if he saw public support as
unproblematic, he would have attempted to lead public opinion. Dulles
would have been constrained by public opinion if he perceived public
opposition, since crises usually do not allow the time necessary (in his
mind) to lead public opinion. If public opposition was not an issue, he
would have attempted to lead the public to support his preferred policy
alternative.

As indicated after the analysis, public opinion’s influence is coded for
the entire case as being in the strong constrain category. Although the
realist view does receive some support during the problem representa-
tion (when officials ignored it) and implementation (when they acted
mostly to lead it) stages, realist theory cannot account for the significant
constraining influence of public opinion found during option genera-
tion and policy selection. Since this case is most likely to support the
realist view, this result provides significant evidence against the realist
perspective. Instead, the profound influence of public opinion during
option generation and policy selection implies support for the Wilson-
ian liberal theory. The pattern of behavior also confirms the influence of

The Crisis Context54



the beliefs variable. Eisenhower’s and Dulles’s behavior was coded as a
supportive influence, since their choices were consistent with expecta-
tions at every decision stage, and process tracing suggested a causal
influence for Dulles’s beliefs during option generation, policy selection,
and implementation and for Eisenhower’s beliefs during the critical
policy selection stage.

Problem Representation: Setting the Agenda

When initially faced with the shelling, security interests dominated
the decision makers’ deliberations. The initial reports to Eisenhower
stressed that the situation “may require basic decisions as a matter of
urgency” given the threat of an impending Communist Chinese inva-
sion and American strategic interests in the area.4 The significance of
this region put any overt threat to the offshore islands or Formosa on
the administration’s discussion agenda. The United States’ position on
the offshore islands remained decidedly vague, in large part because
Eisenhower did not want to commit to defend them, nor did he want to
exclude them from protection for fear of the message it would commu-
nicate to the Communists, Nationalists, and domestic sectors support-
ive of the Nationalists. The Communist Chinese attack caught the
administration in the midst of a reevaluation of the American defense
perimeter in Asia. Although they remained concerned about a Com-
munist miscalculation of American resolve following the Indochina
incident (see chapter 4) and troop withdrawals from the region based on
the New Look defense strategy (see chapter 6), Dulles noted in a late
August letter to the U.S. ambassador to Japan that U.S. policy in the
region was still fluid and that the administration had not yet decided
which of the islands to defend.5

Although the United States had made no public or private commit-
ments to defend the islands, both Eisenhower and Dulles publicly rec-
ognized the importance of the offshore islands and their connection to
the defense of Formosa. On August 17, Eisenhower stated that any
attempt to cross the Formosa Straits to attack the main island of For-
mosa would have to run over the U.S. Navy, and he even observed that a
possible invasion of Formosa would make a good target for atomic
weapons. Although Dulles acknowledged that the military needed to
make the final determination (the NSC had directed the Joint Chiefs of
Staff [ JCS] in mid-August to consider the viability of defending the
offshore islands from a Chinese attack), he explicitly connected the off-
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shore islands with U.S. interests on August 25 when he argued the off-
shore islands might, from a military standpoint, be “so intimately con-
nected with the defense of Formosa that the military would be justified
in concluding that the defense of Formosa comprehended a defense of
those islands.” In this context, the shelling of the offshore islands raised
the possibility of a Communist Chinese invasion in the minds of deci-
sion makers and necessitated an expeditious decision regarding the
administration’s position.6

Problem Representation: Defining the Situation

The government did not immediately agree on a definition of the
problem. Given the speed with which the events occurred and the vari-
ous locations of key individuals (Dulles was attending an international
conference in the Philippines, and Eisenhower was at his “summer
White House” in Denver), policymakers reached their own conclusions
about the threat confronting the administration.

Eisenhower defined the implications of the threat to the islands as
physical and psychological and thought that the security of Formosa
was intimately connected with the fate of the offshore islands. In
August, he stated that he “had imagined [the offshore islands] were vital
outposts for the defense of Formosa.”7 He recalled later that the Com-
munist Chinese shelling posed a threat to both the offshore islands, on
the one hand, and Formosa and the Pescadores, on the other, because
the Nationalists’ possession of them made an amphibious invasion of
Formosa more difficult. During later discussions, however, Eisenhower
stressed the islands’ psychological importance to the Nationalist Chi-
nese rather than their physical value, mentioning later that the islands
meant “everything” in terms of morale for the Nationalists.8

Since Eisenhower saw allied support for American regional policy as
vital, he also worried about how American allies, particularly the
British, would perceive and react to the shelling and feared that an
aggressive American response might drive a wedge between the United
States and its international friends.9 At the August 18 NSC meeting, he
expressed his feeling that unilateral American involvement in a large
regional war would be disastrous and speculated that the United States
might even lose it if allied opinion turned against the American policy.
Nonetheless, he concluded that the United States “should go as far as
possible to defend [the offshore islands] without inflaming world opin-
ion against us.”10 The real possibility of war in the area only enhanced
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these anxieties.11 In the end, Eisenhower formed a picture of the threat
from the shelling in terms of both a physical and a psychological threat
to Formosa’s security, with additional implications for allied relations
deriving from the possibility of war.

Dulles also fretted about the potential reaction of American allies
should the United States become involved in a regional war and feared
unwanted complications if it led to conflicts with important allies,
Great Britain in particular, or disturbed domestic opinion in these
nations. More than even Eisenhower, Dulles viewed the attack on the
islands in terms of their psychological value. In addition to speculating
that the islands might be “intimately connected” to Formosan defenses
from a military standpoint, Dulles told Secretary of Defense Charles
Wilson that the loss of the offshore islands would deal a severe psycho-
logical and political blow to the Nationalists. But he also thought the
situation might contribute to American prestige if handled correctly.
On August 31 during a State Department meeting, he emphasized the
need for a belligerent military policy regarding the offshore islands,
even though this would entail some dangers, in order to recoup the
prestige lost from the Indochina situation earlier that year. Although
this policy did entail some risks, Dulles maintained that the benefits in
terms of American prestige were worth the danger, which in any event,
he did not see as considerable. He underscored the need for a flexible
policy regarding the offshore islands that would respond to “political
and military considerations,” because even though it was critical to keep
Formosa permanently out of communist hands, the same did not hold
true for the offshore islands.12

When the shelling occurred, Dulles dramatically outlined his per-
ception of the situation confronting American policymakers in a
telegram dated September 4 from the Philippines. He explained that
the loss of Quemoy would cause “grave psychological repercussions and
lead to mounting Communist action against deteriorating anti-Com-
munist morale so that this would be [the] beginning of [a] chain of
events which could gravely jeopardize [the] entire off-shore position
[Formosa, Japan, New Zealand, Australia, the Ryukyu Islands, and the
Philippines].” He argued that the United States should attempt to hold
the islands if they were judged defensible with American assistance,
even if the real estate contained no intrinsic value and such a defense
necessitated attacking the Chinese mainland. Given the seriousness of
the threat, he recommended immediate consultations with at least the
leadership of Congress as a matter of “urgency” to ensure congressional
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backing.13 In sum, Dulles’s view centered on the psychological threat
that would result from the loss of the islands and on the opportunity for
the United States to recoup lost prestige.

Option Generation

To remedy this situation, decision makers developed a range of alter-
natives, from doing nothing to responding aggressively. Given his per-
ception of the threat, Eisenhower preferred a policy of procrastination
which would allow him to avoid choosing among several unattractive
alternatives. Although Dulles initially favored an aggressive response,
he significantly altered his policy position in response to anticipated
public opinion, to support a more middle-of-the-road stance more
closely approaching the direction that Eisenhower preferred. There was
division in the Defense Department, however, with the JCS (led by its
chair, Admiral Arthur Radford) pressing for decisive action to protect
the islands and others (mainly Secretary of Defense Charles Wilson
and Army Chief of Staff General Matthew Ridgway) recommending
backing away completely from a commitment to defend them.

Given the dilemma that Eisenhower saw as inherent in the policy
toward the islands, the option he preferred boiled down to taking a
“wait and see” attitude toward action. Although he did not wish to
abandon the offshore islands, he preferred to achieve his goals by keep-
ing the American position vague and avoiding an explicit commitment.
Eisenhower also remained uncertain about how to achieve this end. He
firmly believed that the island of Formosa had be defended, since it
entailed a clear American national security interest. In addition, he felt
“certain that American public opinion overwhelmingly favors any nec-
essary action on our part to make certain of the defeat of any such
attempt” to take the island. State Department polling supported his
feeling.14

While Eisenhower worried about the ramifications for the Nation-
alists’ morale of allowing the offshore islands to fall into Communist
hands, more bellicose action posed a problem as well. He feared a com-
mitment to defend the islands would irretrievably engage American
prestige in a possibly doomed defensive action. Furthermore, the impli-
cations of an American-backed evacuation of the Nationalist troops on
Quemoy in the event of an invasion troubled him, and he noted that
“my hunch is that once we get tied up in any one of these things our
prestige is so completely involved.”15 Eisenhower felt strongly that the
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administration should not pledge to protect the offshore islands unless
they could be defended, something he found a risky prospect given their
proximity to the mainland. A commitment to defend the islands, he
believed, also might anger important allies.16

Although Eisenhower believed as late as mid-August that the off-
shore islands themselves were “vital outposts” of Formosa’s defense, he
now appeared to be weighing the costs of defending them in terms of
potential damage the country’s prestige and allied relations. Facing the
prospect of balancing a policy between abandoning and defending the
islands while avoiding the irretrievable commitment of American pres-
tige, he settled on procrastination as the only policy that could allay his
concerns by avoiding a commitment, keeping several options open, and
leaving the decision up to the Communist Chinese.

Unlike Eisenhower, Dulles initially supported a more forceful
stance, recommending the defense of the offshore islands because of the
opportunity to regain American prestige and the possible damage to the
American position in the region from their loss. During the first week
of the crisis, he saw the psychological value of the islands as so great that
he was willing to commit to their defense even if it meant risking a larg-
er war, attacking the Chinese mainland, and, possibly, using nuclear
weapons. He thought that if the islands were not defensible, the United
States should distance itself from their fate to avoid its own Dien Bien
Phu (see chapter 4). He apparently held this view at least until Septem-
ber 9 when Undersecretary of State Bedell Smith presented Dulles’s
views to a NSC meeting.17 Although his insistence on the protection of
Formosa never wavered, Dulles soon shifted to a less confrontational
option of submitting the issue to the United Nations for consideration,
a middle option between defending and abandoning the offshore
islands that became attractive mainly because of his concerns with pub-
lic opinion.

While returning from his trip to Asia on September 12, Dulles com-
posed a detailed analysis of the offshore islands situation and proposed a
possible solution to the crisis.18 The memo reveals that his views had
developed considerably since his initial reaction a week earlier. Dulles
observed, “Quemoy cannot be held indefinitely without general war
with Red China in which the Communists are defeated.” The adminis-
tration, he reasoned, could use President Harry Truman’s 1950 order to
the Seventh Fleet to defend Formosa against a Communist Chinese
invasion to justify the defense of the offshore islands. In a comment
reflecting his evolving viewpoint, he pointed out that this move would
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“undoubtedly” result in a “serious attack on the Administration, and a
sharply divided Congress and nation, if the Executive sought to use his
authority to order U.S. forces to defend also Quemoy, Tachen etc.”
Dulles believed that the islands were “not demonstrably essential to the
defense of Formosa, as shown by the fact that for four years they have
not been included in the area the Fleet is ordered to defend.” This per-
ception sharply contrasts with his previous views when he argued the
opposite regarding the importance of the islands.

If the administration attempted to gain broader authority to act
regarding the offshore islands, Dulles reasoned that the Congress and
public would “probably,” but not necessarily, “respond to an all-out
appeal to the Congress” on the basis that the United States could not be
“acquiescent” to further communist gains in Asia. However, the current
congressional elections would complicate attempts at leadership. A
commitment to defend the islands would “alienate” world opinion and
American allies (Europe, Australia, and New Zealand), especially since
the situation “would probably lead to our initiating the use of atomic
weapons.” But even though the United States did not necessarily need
to “disassociate” itself immediately from the islands if it decided not to
fight to defend them, Dulles believed that the loss of the offshore
islands (because of the implied commitment to defend them, given
American aid to Formosa and American military personnel on Que-
moy) would likely harm both American prestige and Nationalist
morale.

To resolve this problem, Dulles concluded that the issue should be
submitted to the United Nations Security Council by a “neutral,” but
interested, nation, such as New Zealand, with a call for preserving the
status quo and studying the issue further. Although the United States
would relinquish control of the issue to the international body, Dulles
found certain advantages in this option. If the Soviet Union vetoed the
resolution, the United States would gain standing in world opinion and
with its allies and could claim the moral high ground. If the Soviets
chose not to veto the resolution, the Soviets and Communist Chinese
might split, and Communist China would become an “international
outcast” if it still chose to act. He foresaw the ultimate outcome of the
UN option as the permanent independence of Formosa and the
Pescadores. As he recognized in the presentation of his proposal at the
September 12 NSC meeting, the UN option placed the administration
in a better position to lead the public to support a defense of the islands
if it became necessary later.
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The reasoning of this memorandum reflects an important shift in
Dulles’s thinking regarding this crisis. Although he initially felt strongly
about the need to defend the islands, his arguments now recognized a
tension between competing interests and motives and, to an extent,
began to express a view of the situation similar to Eisenhower’s. Instead
of relying on unilateral military action to defend the islands, Dulles now
suggested pursuing a multilateral diplomatic course that would reduce
American control but still meet the administration’s policy objectives.

What accounts for Dulles’s shift in position from recommending a
commitment to defend the offshore islands at great risk to one desper-
ately seeking an alternative between withdrawing or fighting? One pos-
sibility is his initial concerns about the defensibility of the islands had
not been met. However, given the information he received during the
intervening period, this conclusion appears unlikely. On September 7,
Dulles noted that the Defense Department was currently considering
the defensibility issue and that the answer looked negative. But on a
September 9 stopover in Formosa for consultations, Major General
William Chase, U.S. army chief of the Military Assistance Advisory
Group to Formosa, gave an “optimistic” report of the military situation
and recommended that the United States announce its intention to
defend the islands. The U.S. ambassador to Formosa, Karl Lott Rankin,
while noting that some of the islands might not be defensible, recom-
mended that the United States keep the Communist Chinese guessing
and provide military assistance where it would be helpful. In contrast to
Dulles’s September 7 statement, the majority of the Joint Chiefs on
September 11 concluded the offshore islands were important to the
defense of Formosa and defensible with American assistance.19 Finally,
while Dulles’s concern about the damage to American prestige and
Nationalist morale continued, the reasoning of his September 12 mem-
orandum did not discuss the potential defensibility of the islands.

Instead of defensive issues, Dulles’s memorandum focused on a new
element concerning the probable negative domestic reaction if the
administration acted to defend the islands. This new concern with
domestic division appeared to have caused him to shift his policy rec-
ommendation from defending the islands to pursuing the possible mid-
range alternative of the UN option and was derived from new informa-
tion that appeared regarding public opinion between his September 4
and September 12 memoranda. During this time, State Department
public opinion analyses, on which Dulles heavily relied for information
on public opinion, reported that the public would be divided if the
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United States took aggressive action. The September 2–8 China
Telegram, a report distributed to American diplomatic posts in the Far
East where Dulles was attending the signing of the Southeast Asia
Treaty Organization (SEATO) treaty, observed that American newspa-
per editors were divided on the policy the American government should
choose. The following week’s report indicated an even more pro-
nounced division among commentators. In addition, other internal
State Department reports warned that significant divisions in elite
opinion were growing and that the possibility existed for serious divi-
sions in the larger public should the United States use force.20 Dulles’s
presentation to the NSC on September 12 emphasized the influence of
public opinion to an even greater extent. In both his memorandum and
his oral presentation, he stressed the future reaction of public opinion to
the administration’s actions. Based on this information and the reason-
ing in the memorandum, the shift in Dulles’s policy recommendations
seems to stem from this new information regarding public opinion and
suggests that it heavily influenced Dulles’s thinking regarding policy
options to resolve the crisis.

Unlike Dulles, the JCS and Chairman Radford developed the most
hawkish position based on their view of the political, psychological, and
military significance of the islands and recommended several steps nec-
essary to defend them in a September 11 memorandum to Secretary of
Defense Wilson.21 The JCS saw the offshore islands as important,
among other reasons, to the Nationalists’ morale, commando raiding,
and intelligence gathering. Although Quemoy was not “essential” to the
defense of Formosa, since the Communists could invade the larger
island without the smaller one, the JCS deemed Quemoy as “substan-
tially related” to Formosa’s defense because its possession could prevent
the Communists from using the best harbor in the area from which to
launch an invasion. The JCS felt the offshore islands would be defensi-
ble if the United States committed naval and air forces to the area and
gave the American commander the freedom “to strike when and where
necessary” to thwart an actual invasion or preparations to invade. They
indicated that the use of nuclear weapons would be considered “if and
when” the need arose, but “with the understanding now that if essential
to victory their use would be accorded.”

In contrast to the JCS majority, who were willing to risk nuclear war
to prevent the Communist Chinese from taking the offshore islands,
Secretary of Defense Wilson and Army Chief of Staff General Matthew
Ridgway argued against an American commitment to defend the
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islands. Wilson believed a distinction needed to be made between the
offshore islands (of little consequence) and Formosa and the Pescadores
(which remained important). The basic problem arose because “it would
be extremely difficult to explain, either to the people of the United States
or to our allies why, after refusing to go to war with Communist China
over Korea and Indochina, we were perfectly willing to fight over these
small islands.” Ridgway disagreed with the JCS on two major points.
First, he argued that the offshore islands were not militarily related to the
defense of Formosa, and he rejected the JCS majority’s political and psy-
chological reasoning as outside the military’s purview and rightly in the
hands of political authorities. Quemoy, in particular, would be of “minus-
cule importance” during a war because the Communists could bypass the
area in an invasion of Formosa, and it offered no major objectives for
counteroffensive targeting. Second, he argued that a successful defense
of the islands would require a major commitment of at least a division of
American ground forces, along with air and naval assets which would
need to be given a free hand to attack the Chinese mainland.22

Policy Selection

With this range of options before them, the administration reached a
policy decision on the crisis during a special NSC meeting on Septem-
ber 12.23 At this session, Dulles presented, and Eisenhower approved,
Dulles’s recommendation for investigating the United Nations option.
For the next several months, the administration focused on implement-
ing the decision reached at this meeting.

The meeting opened with a briefing by Dulles about his trip to the
Far East and meeting with Nationalist leader Chiang Kai-shek, who
asked for a mutual security treaty with the United States. Special Assis-
tant to the President Robert Cutler introduced the offshore islands issue
by recalling that the policy toward Formosa and the offshore islands,
established in November 1953, was to “effectively incorporate” Formosa
and the Pescadores into the American defensive perimeter and to protect
them from a hostile takeover even “at grave risk of general war.” Con-
cerning the offshore islands, the United States would “encourage and
assist” the Nationalists to defend them “without committing U.S. forces,
unless Formosa or the Pescadores are attacked.” Regarding the Commu-
nist reaction, the director of the Central Intelligence Agency (CIA),
Allen Dulles, stated that the new interagency intelligence estimate was
that the Communists would not act if they felt the United States would
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respond militarily.24 JCS Chair Radford then weighed in with the views
of the hawkish JCS majority, Ridgway’s dissent, and CINCPAC (Com-
mander in Chief, Pacific) Admiral Felix Stump, who emphasized the
importance of the offshore islands for the defense of Formosa.

Attention then turned to the question of whether the president pos-
sessed the constitutional authority to protect the offshore islands based
on Truman’s 1950 orders to the Seventh Fleet. Eisenhower and Attorney
General Herbert Brownell expressed trepidation about the legal stand-
ing of such action. Wilson then added his support for continuing the
current policy because of the difference he saw between the offshore
islands, on the one hand, and Formosa and the Pescadores, on the other,
and he noted that the choice lay between the damage to morale from
losing the islands or the danger of precipitating a war with China that
would be difficult to stop. While Radford pressed the military reasons
for holding the islands, Brownell offered a memorandum on past con-
gressional positions on Formosa indicating that Congress had not pre-
viously understood the offshore islands to be included in the Seventh
Fleet’s orders.25

After hearing this dispute among his advisers, Eisenhower then
expressed views that roughly conformed with his previous perspective
on the significance of the islands by underscoring their psychological
value and lack of relevance to the actual defense of Formosa. Speaking
generally about the approach to these types of issues, he warned that the
United States needed to be careful in reacting to every possible commu-
nist threat, because if the communists found they could tie down the
United States by “making faces,” they would use this tactic throughout
the world. If a large-scale war was to be the result, he preferred to con-
front the “head of the snake” (meaning the Soviet Union rather than
China). After comments by Radford describing the level of action nec-
essary to protect the offshore islands (including attacks on the Chinese
mainland), Eisenhower insisted that such aggressive action, since it
implied war, required congressional approval.To do otherwise, he main-
tained, “would be logical grounds for impeachment” and “he was
damned if he knew” how important allies, especially Britain, would
react to American involvement in such a war. Perhaps feeling pressure
from the NSC for belligerent action, Eisenhower “said that the Council
must get one thing clear in their heads, and that is that they are talking
about war.” Based on a reference to “not holding back” as had been done
in Korea, Eisenhower clearly saw a decision to defend the offshore
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islands against a Communist Chinese assault as tantamount to a com-
mitment to a large-scale war.26

At this point in the discussion, Dulles introduced his proposal for
UN consideration of the crisis as a means to alleviate the dilemma fac-
ing the administration. He pointed out that both sides could find sup-
port for their arguments. American weakness could lead to further
Communist probing, resulting in a fight in “less advantageous condi-
tions,” with possibly “disastrous consequences in Korea, Japan, For-
mosa, and the Philippines.” But war with the Communist Chinese over
the offshore islands at this point could undermine the American posi-
tion. “Outside of [South Korean leader Syngman] Rhee and Chiang
[Kai-shek], the rest of the world would condemn us, as well as a sub-
stantial part of the U.S. people. The British fear atomic war and would
not consider the reasons for our action to be justified. Possibly very few
Americans would agree.”The United States faced a “horrible dilemma.”
To alleviate this condition, Dulles advised submitting the issue to the
United Nations to “obtain an injunction to maintain the status quo.” If
the Soviets vetoed the resolution against the UN majority will, the
administration would find a “totally different atmosphere regarding our
allies and the American people.” If the Soviets went along, the move
could be the first step in stabilizing the region. Dulles asserted that the
proposal held the possibility of avoiding the two unacceptable extremes
of the “moral condemnation of the world” for choosing war or the out-
right loss of islands. He thought that the United States also had to con-
sult with the Nationalists and the British and added that his informa-
tion indicated that no decision on the defense of the islands was neces-
sary in the short term, since the Chinese were acting cautiously because
of the immediate Nationalist reaction and uncertainty of American
action.27

Eisenhower “heartily endorsed” Dulles’s proposal and stressed the
need to find out the British reaction. He saw advantages to the UN res-
olution, since it might allow America to act without congressional
authority, as had occurred in Korea. Dulles noted that if the United
States acted in the present atmosphere, the administration would have
to act without congressional authorization and would “not have anyone
in the United States with us.” However, the UN resolution would
enable congressional authorization that otherwise would not be forth-
coming. After further discussion of the UN option, Eisenhower’s con-
cern for domestic opinion became apparent. According to the minutes:
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[Eisenhower] did not believe that we could put the proposition of going
to war over with the American people at this time. The West Coast
might agree, but his letters from the farm areas elsewhere constantly say
don’t send our boys to war. It will be a big job to explain to the American
people the importance of these islands to U.S. security. Moreover, if we
shuck the U.N., and say we are going to be the world’s policeman, we
had better get ready to go to war, because we’ll get it. The president said
that while he was in general agreement with everything that had been
said, we must enlist world support and the approval of the American
people.28

Although Eisenhower thought he might be able to generate congres-
sional and public support if he labeled the islands as an essential nation-
al security interest, he believed that he would have to make a “terrific
case.” He insisted that the group “must recognize that Quemoy is not
our ship. Letters to him constantly say what do we care what happens to
those yellow people out there?”29

Continuing the NSC discussion, Vice President Richard Nixon
joined the JCS majority concerning the psychological and political
importance of the islands. If the United States decided to do nothing,
he recommended not announcing the decision, in order to keep the
Communists guessing and to take a chance on the consequences. He
argued that a significant segment of the American population still felt
the UN had “kept our boys from doing what should have been done in
Korea” and worried that the administration might be criticized for
“becoming engaged in another war under UN auspices after the exam-
ple of Korea.” Dulles

agreed that there was a very vocal segment of the United States which
was against the UN, but that all the polls indicated an overwhelming
majority (about 75%) who were still for the UN. He thought that his
proposal would be responsive to the real wishes of the American people
that we exhaust all peaceful means before taking military action.

To this, Eisenhower reiterated his belief that the administration “must
be able to explain our actions to the American people.” Eisenhower
concluded the meeting saying that only he should comment on the sub-
stance of discussions and decided to have the secretary of state explore
the possibility and desirability of the UN option.

Eisenhower’s perception of divisions in the American public is sup-
ported by polling from this period. Although the public supported some
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form of aid to Formosa (then the current policy), it was sharply divided
over the question of sending in American troops, with only a fraction of
the public supporting such a move. A September 1954 State Depart-
ment poll found that 53 percent of the population supported “giving the
Chinese Nationalist government on Formosa all the help it needs to
attack the Chinese Communists on the mainland of China,” with 33
percent disapproving and 14 percent with no opinion—figures essential-
ly unchanged since March 1952. The 53 percent supporting assistance to
the Nationalist Chinese were asked what type of assistance the United
States should give. Expressed as a percentage of the total sample, of
which 33 percent opposed aid, the poll indicated that 20 percent sup-
ported sending troops to assist the Chinese Nationalists in this effort
and 31 percent opposed troops but supported some sort of undefined aid
(the remaining 2 percent of the original 53 percent gave no opinion on
the use of troops).30

A more specific question on the defense of Formosa also revealed
significant divisions in the public. A Gallup poll taken after the critical
NSC meeting, during the week of September 16 through 21 and
released on October 6, asked: “If Formosa is invaded by Communist
China, which one of the following statements (on card) comes closest
to your own view of what the United States should do?” Ten percent
answered “have US planes bomb airfields and factories on the China
mainland”; 31 percent indicated “have US planes and ships help keep
Communist China from invading Formosa”; 28 percent responded
“have US supply guns and other war materials but take no active part in
fighting”; 21 percent preferred to “have the United States keep out of
Formosa altogether and let them fight it out themselves”; and 10 per-
cent gave no opinion.31 These surveys revealed a significant division in
the public over the level of American assistance to Formosa and a spe-
cial concern about the use of ground troops. Even greater public oppo-
sition to an American use of force would be expected regarding the off-
shore islands, since even the American government questioned their
strategic significance.

Public opinion strongly affected Eisenhower’s choice to support
Dulles’s policy proposal. Even though the psychological importance of
the islands provided a reason not to simply abandon them, Eisenhower
was less inclined to agree with the proponents of action (such as the JCS
majority) and, because the islands held little physical value, seemed hes-
itant to risk war and its consequences in public opinion. He clearly
believed that public support for military action and congressional
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authorization would not be forthcoming at the time and felt that the
majority of the public would oppose any unilateral action by the United
States that resulted in war. While recognizing that the islands had psy-
chological importance and that a full-fledged education campaign
might create public support for American action, Eisenhower desper-
ately wanted to avoid another Asian war, because of the risk of domestic
division. The UN option seemed to resolve the conflict between the
extreme choices, held the possibility of avoiding war at least in the short
term, and placed the administration in a better position to obtain the
required public support should more aggressive action prove necessary
at a later date. Although he was interested in leading public opinion on
this issue, Eisenhower recognized that his ability to do so was limited
and found a less confrontational approach more consonant with his
reading of public opinion. Along with lingering concerns about the
United States’ allies, public opinion virtually eliminated the option of
war or a strong stand regarding the offshore islands at that time.

Policy Implementation

As decided at the September 12 NSC meeting, the administration’s
comment on the content of the discussion was both brief and ambigu-
ous, with Eisenhower noting that it merely entailed consultations on
the region and reaffirmed old decisions. In response to inquires from the
press, Dulles commented that he would keep both the Communist
Chinese and the press guessing about the administration’s intentions.32

While the administration held its cards closely in public, Dulles
began consulting with the British concerning the United Nations
option. The British supported the American effort to pursue a middle
course between abandoning the islands and precipitating a war and
were particularly relieved that the administration was attempting to
avoid general war and the implied use of nuclear weapons. The United
States and the British agreed to approach New Zealand about introduc-
ing the UN resolution, with subsequent negotiations among the three
nations lasting through mid-October. Even though Dulles spent a great
deal of time in Europe addressing these issues, the subject of the negoti-
ations was effectively kept out of the press.33

During these negotiations, anxiety heightened in the administration
about the potential Nationalist reaction to the UN option. In a Septem-
ber 30 telegram to Dulles, Undersecretary of State Bedell Smith and the
U.S. ambassador to the UN, Henry Cabot Lodge, asked for his views
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concerning the timing of the resolution’s introduction. In particular,
Smith and Lodge were concerned about the upcoming 1954 midterm
congressional elections which might be complicated because of “unfa-
vorable reaction once [the Nationalist Chinese] learn of [the] proposal
and realize its full implications and this would be almost certain to gen-
erate considerable emotion in certain domestic political circles.”
Dulles’s reply stressed the need to have the resolution under considera-
tion by the Security Council before the United States faced the choice
of losing the islands or intervening. Dulles noted that the military situa-
tion should dictate the timing, but he recommended that the resolution
be introduced “either in November or when [a] serious attack [was]
mounting, whichever comes first.” While recognizing that some
domestic sectors and the Nationalists might be upset by the resolution,
he felt the action was defensible as the only available option to keep the
offshore islands in Nationalist hands without American intervention,
something that he thought the United States would not undertake,
since it would entail a large-scale war that might include the use of
atomic weapons.34 Although Dulles’s choice of timing made the mili-
tary situation the top priority, by suggesting a delay on the resolution
until after the November election, he attempted to avoid any possible
division and negative electoral consequences if the administration’s
efforts became publicly known.

In a slight change in timing, on October 4, Dulles recommended
proceeding with the Security Council resolution, regardless of the cam-
paign and without prior consultation with congressional leaders. He
reasoned that delaying action might reduce its effect and the resolution
might even help in the election: “It is hard for me to believe that [news
of the effort] will have any adverse effect, and indeed the effect might be
favorable on net balance.”35 He believed that the resolution would be
supported by the majority in Congress and the American public and
that only a “handful” of the public favored war over the islands. Since he
felt almost certain that the communists would reject the resolution, it
would provide a good basis from which to bring the public to support
the administration position.36 Even so, Eisenhower and Dulles decided
to delay notifying Congress about the resolution until right before its
introduction, since bipartisan consultation would be difficult during the
campaign. Instead, they decided to inform Senate Majority Leader
Senator William Knowland (R, Calif.) immediately before the resolu-
tion’s submission, because New Zealand would be introducing it, and
they would be guilty of bad faith if they consulted with Congress
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beforehand. Eisenhower “could not conceive of any reason why in the
conduct of foreign affairs we should not follow our own best judg-
ments,” and Nixon said it would be unnecessary and dangerous for prior
consultation with Congress.37

It soon became apparent, however, that Nationalist opposition to the
UN resolution needed to be taken more seriously. On October 5,
Ambassador Lodge, alluding to the upcoming elections, warned Dulles
that a confrontation with the Nationalists could be politically danger-
ous.38 In addition, the U.S. ambassador to Formosa, Karl Rankin, alert-
ed Washington to a “violently unfavorable reaction” regarding the UN
resolution from Chiang, who would interpret it as “another Yalta.”39

Because of Rankin’s message, the assistant secretary of state for far east-
ern affairs, Walter Robertson, recommended to Dulles on October 7
that the United States pursue a mutual defense treaty (which had been
under consideration for some time) covering Formosa and the
Pescadores, in order to bolster Nationalist morale and counteract any
damage to relations that the UN resolution might create. The treaty
might also serve to deter the communists from taking more aggressive
action in the region. Robertson’s memorandum apparently had an
impact. In a discussion with Eisenhower on October 7, Dulles said that
the United States should be willing to grant Chiang a defensive treaty if
he went along with the resolution in the Security Council. Eisenhower
agreed.40

During discussions with the Nationalists regarding the UN resolu-
tion, Chiang requested that the defense treaty be concluded first before
the resolution was introduced, which Dulles and Eisenhower found
acceptable if key members of the Congress assented. By October 18, the
administration had already received favorable replies from some mem-
bers of the Republican congressional leadership on the treaty, including
Nationalist supporter Senator Knowland, and decided that the Democ-
ratic leadership should be consulted as soon as possible. On October 19,
Lodge again warned Dulles that he feared Chiang would excite the
“China lobby” because of his foul mood. Dulles noted that the adminis-
tration was attempting to assuage Chiang with the mutual defense
treaty, since the Nationalists wanted it so badly and observed that an
announcement on the treaty might be forthcoming should consulta-
tions with the Congress go well.41

The upcoming election also influenced the timing of the announce-
ment of the treaty negotiations. The influential Senate Foreign Rela-
tions Committee member, Michael Mansfield (D, Mont.) recommend-
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ed holding off on the treaty until after the congressional elections
because it would likely become a partisan issue, much to the detriment
of a bipartisan foreign policy. The timing weighed heavily on Dulles’s
mind and surfaced in his discussions with Nationalist Chinese officials.
In an effort to head off Nationalist efforts to cause domestic problems
for the administration by playing on their desire for a treaty, Dulles
stressed that should the Republicans lose the midterm elections, con-
gressional consultations would have to begin again regarding the treaty
because of the change in leadership. Because of possible conflicts with
the elections, Dulles observed, even though negotiations could begin
before the election, no announcement should be made regarding the
treaty until afterward.42

After Eisenhower formally approved negotiation of the treaty at the
October 28 NSC meeting, the administration announced the opening
of defense treaty negotiations on November 6, two days before the con-
gressional elections, with observers expecting it to pass the Senate.Talks
continued throughout November (even though the Democrats regained
control of Congress from the Republicans) and concluded with the ini-
tialing of a treaty on November 23 committing the United States to
defend only Formosa and the nearby Pescadores. That same day, the
Communist Chinese announcement that it would imprison captured
American flyers for espionage led some, including Senator Knowland,
to call for a blockade of mainland China.43

The public reaction to the imprisonment announcement caused
considerable consternation for the administration. In discussions on the
resolution’s introduction with New Zealand and the United Kingdom,
Dulles pressed for holding off until the public’s reaction to the treaty
could be ascertained. He thought it would take a few days for the public
to understand the treaty and feared that people might misread the reso-
lution as retaliation for the Communist imprisonment of the American
flyers. In this context, he thought the UN resolution might only exacer-
bate the domestic situation rather than improve it. Although Eisen-
hower and he were attempting to have a calming influence, he empha-
sized the need to proceed carefully, since public reaction to a Commu-
nist Chinese attack on the offshore islands, in this charged political
atmosphere, might force the United States into a conflict. In the after-
math of these actions, Dulles recommended delaying the resolution
until the public had quieted down or hostilities appeared imminent.44

Dulles’s arguments apparently were persuasive. The mutual defense
treaty was publicly signed on December 2 and ratified by the Senate on
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February 9, 1955. New Zealand introduced its resolution on January 28,
1955, after new attacks by the Communists on the offshore islands.
Although the Soviets introduced their own resolution condemning
American aggression, the New Zealand resolution passed the Security
Council on January 31. However, Communist Chinese leader Chou En-
lai’s refusal to accept an invitation to discuss the matter at the Security
Council effectively ended the UN’s involvement.45 Even though the
administration successfully implemented its alternatives, the policies
failed to relieve the pressure on the Nationalist Chinese position. After
worsening in early 1955, the crisis was defused, and the shelling tapered
off after a Communist Chinese offer in April for discussions on the
Formosa Straits was accepted by the United States. Although the
Nationalists abandoned the Tachen islands in January at the urging of
the United States, they retained possession of the main offshore islands
of Quemoy and Matsu.

With the adoption of a two-track policy encompassing the UN reso-
lution and the mutual defense treaty, the administration hoped its poli-
cy would avoid war yet keep the offshore islands in Nationalist hands.
The policy at the time seemed to meet all significant requirements. It
avoided public opposition to a unilateral commitment of American
forces to protect the offshore islands, and in the view of high-level offi-
cials, it also placed the administration in a good position to lead the
public and American allies to take action at a later date if the Commu-
nist Chinese pursued additional aggressive action. It successfully
assuaged the Nationalists’ concerns and maintained the support of other
American allies by not appearing too bellicose. It also held out the pos-
sibility of deterring further Communist aggression. In the end, the
administration selected the policy that it felt successfully balanced all its
near-term interests and provided the political foundation for more
aggressive action at a later time if it became necessary.

Variables

Although the decision makers’ assessments of public opinion played
an important part in the determination of the outcome, their effect var-
ied throughout the case. As officials formed their initial impressions of
the situation, they largely ignored public opinion. However, as they
began to formulate options and select policies, their assessments of pub-
lic preferences became more closely connected to the policy process.
Dulles’s assessment of public opinion dramatically altered his policy
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position to support the less belligerent UN option when he found that
the public would not support the more rigorous defensive option he ini-
tially recommended. In considering the policy, he stressed the difficulty,
at that time, of building public support for aggressive action and
emphasized the UN option’s ability to give the administration the time
and opportunity to lead the public to support a more assertive policy if
it became necessary. Dulles remained acutely aware of the dynamics of
public opinion as he attempted to implement the alternative by trying
to keep the administration’s negotiations out of electoral politics and
favoring a defense treaty with Formosa to head off Nationalist efforts to
make administration policy an electoral issue. Given his concerns with
public opinion, he also worked to ensure that the timing of the resolu-
tion and treaty aligned with the public’s ability to support the policies.
Throughout this case, public opinion proved to be a constant concern
for Dulles, especially as he formulated a response to the threat.

Like Dulles, Eisenhower remained painfully aware of the limits of
public opinion, which constrained both the maximum and minimum
policy he could accept when evaluating possible policies. Although pub-
lic opinion did not influence his initial conceptions of the attack, it rein-
forced his view that the administration, at the very least, had to defend
Formosa. As is clear from the NSC deliberations, Eisenhower conclud-
ed that the public would not support war over the offshore islands,
which would make acquiring authorization from Congress prohibitive.
When confronted with the need to make a decision and pressed by the
military to adopt a rigorous defense of the offshore islands, his percep-
tion of the public’s lack of stomach for war steeled his rejection of these
suggestions. This concern continued as Dulles implemented the policy
regarding the resolution and treaty negotiations.

The effect of the assessment of public opinion increased as the case
proceeded, whereas the impact of other interests correspondingly
waned. Decision makers focused on national security issues in the early
going as they formed their opinions about the need for an American
response. Dulles framed the problem in terms of threats to the Ameri-
can position in the region, since the damage to American prestige asso-
ciated with the loss of the islands would have psychological implications
for the United States’ regional allies and the Nationalists in particular.
Even though Dulles thought that the American position with its Asian
allies would be bolstered by a strong response, perhaps even recouping
some lost prestige, he knew the European partners were just as worried
that the Americans would respond too vigorously. Dulles placed more
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weight on the reaction of the Asian allies early in the crisis, but once
public opinion caused him to favor a more restrained alternative, his
focus shifted to a balance between satisfying America’s Asian and Euro-
pean friends when implementing the policy.

Eisenhower saw the importance of the islands as deriving mostly
from their psychological significance to the Nationalists’ morale,
although he also attributed some military value to them. His concerns
with American prestige also reinforced his desire to respond firmly to
the Chinese threat. Like Dulles, as he turned to specific options to con-
front the threat, he balanced these interests partly against the European
allies’ fear of a hotheaded American response. Although Eisenhower
focused a great deal on allied responses when implementing the UN
option, European trepidation only partially militated against a strong
American response, which was determined mostly by his concern with
the domestic divisions that would erupt if he responded too vigorously
to the shelling.

The influence of beliefs was apparent throughout this case, with
Eisenhower’s and Dulles’s behavior consistent with their beliefs
throughout and causally influencing their choices at critical junctures.
Eisenhower was expected to formulate his views based on national
security interests and then attempt to lead the public to support the
chosen policy unless he perceived public opposition. During both the
problem representation and the option generation stages, he reacted
consistently with his beliefs, by focusing on national security interests
rather than on public opinion. As he faced the need for a decision, these
beliefs had a causal influence on him, by limiting the options he saw as
being available. At the critical meeting to decide the policy, he almost
exclusively relied on public opinion as a reason to avoid war over the
offshore islands. His statements reveal that he understood that the pub-
lic would not accept war, and so leading the public on the issue would be
extremely difficult. Dulles’s alternative provided Eisenhower with an
option to rectify his competing concerns with the loss of Nationalist
morale, on the one hand, and the limitations provided by public opin-
ion, on the other. As he moved to implement the policy, his behavior
remained consistent with his beliefs, since once he had selected the UN
option, his policy implementation decisions were driven mostly by
national security concerns. Eisenhower focused on his prerogatives to
set foreign policy when considering a discussion of the resolution with
Congress and agreed to negotiate a treaty after it was linked to Nation-
alist support of the UN option. When public reaction in late November
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threatened to undermine his policy approach, he attempted to calm the
people to preserve support for his policies. By reacting consistently with
his beliefs at all times and causally at the vital decision points, the effect
of Eisenhower’s beliefs receives a supportive coding.

Dulles’s beliefs suggest that he would have preferred to make deci-
sions based on the national security determinants of policy and then
lead public opinion to support it. In cases such as this one, which allow
only a short amount of decision time, if he perceived public opposition
to his policy, he would be constrained by it, since he would be unlikely
to find the extended time he thought was needed to generate public
support. While forming his initial conceptions of the threat, he focused
on the national security concerns, a tactic that was consistent with his
beliefs. While he formulated his perceptions of the policy options and
the administration was selecting and implementing the policy, his
beliefs had a causal influence. Dulles decided to change his policy rec-
ommendation after information on possible divisions in the public over
aggressive action became available and was reflected in both the reason-
ing of his memorandum and his presentation at the September 12 NSC
meeting. The UN option also gave him an issue and the time he felt
necessary to persuade the public to support a more belligerent policy if
it were required. As the administration moved to implement the policy,
he shifted to leading public opinion as the time to create support for it
became available. Even though concern with negative public reaction at
first made Dulles hesitant to introduce the resolution in October, he
eventually chose that month because of its positive influence on leading
public opinion to support administration policy (although it was later
delayed because of the treaty negotiations). His decision on the treaty
reflected his desire to obtain Nationalist Chinese political agreement,
although he may have been partially concerned with their influence on
domestic opinion. When the Chinese announcement of the imprison-
ment of the American flyers raised his concern about public overreac-
tion, he pressed the British to delay the resolution until the public could
be properly led to support the treaty. This combination of influences
suggests a supportive coding of the effect on Dulles’s actions of the
beliefs variable.

Coding the Influence of Public Opinion

The influence of public opinion is coded for the case in the strong
constrain category. Although other interests affected decision makers
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throughout the case and largely determined decisions during the prob-
lem representation (when decision makers focused on American pres-
tige and the Nationalists’ reactions) and policy implementation (when
they focused on allied and congressional relations and public opinion
affected the timing of when some alternatives were acted on) stages,
public opinion greatly conditioned the choice of the UN option itself.
During the option generation and policy selection stages, public opin-
ion greatly limited the options that Dulles felt were available and forced
him to seek an alternative policy to defending the islands because of
mounting public divisions over the proper reaction to the crisis. During
the policy selection stage, although concerns about the reactions of
American allies remained, Eisenhower’s perceptions of public opposi-
tion severely limited the range of alternatives he felt were available and
largely eliminated the option of aggressive action.

The influence of public opinion in this case supports the Wilsonian
liberal perspective, which suggests that public opinion would constrain
decision makers. It provides only minor support for the realist view,
which implies that decision makers would largely ignore public opin-
ion except to lead it when implementing a policy. Support for the
Wilsonian liberal viewpoint appeared as decision makers began to
tackle the question of how to respond to the threat occasioned by the
Communist Chinese shelling and, although it waned somewhat during
the policy implementation stage, lasted throughout the rest of the case.
The realist view is supported during the problem representation stage
because decision makers across the board saw the situation primarily in
terms of national security interests (allied relations, American interna-
tional prestige) and during the problem implementation stage, when
decision makers also tried, in part, to lead public opinion. However,
realist predictions cannot account for the behavior at the other stages
of decision in which the strength of public opinion’s influence provides
disconfirming evidence. This finding is particularly strong, since this
case was selected to bias results in favor of realist views. National secu-
rity interests remained in decision makers’ minds when they confront-
ed many of these decisions, but they relied more on public opinion
than these other factors. Given these dynamics, the case largely discon-
firms realist predictions.

Although the Wilsonian liberal model is mostly supported and the
realist model is only partially supported by the case, the beliefs model
fully accounts for the case’s dynamics, in which officials focused on
other interests at the beginning of the crisis and then shifted toward
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public opinion as they began to develop policy options. This finding is
particularly important because beliefs are expected to have the most
influence in the crisis context. In this sense, the beliefs model is correct
where it should be strongest while at the same time the realist model is
fairly weak where it should be strongest, and the Wilsonian liberal
model is fairly strong where it should be weakest (see table 3.1).

Under crisis conditions, it is often argued that public opinion does
not have adequate time to influence policy decisions. However, since
decision makers applied data gathered in other contexts to the decision
they faced in this case and even relied on reports of current public opin-
ion to assess future public views, time did not prohibit public opinion’s
influence. Perhaps the strongest link connecting public opinion and
policy outcomes was formed by the decision makers’ anticipations of
public preferences. These anticipations were often based on either per-
ceptions of the existing opinion context or on particular evidence of the
public’s view. For example, this influence was most noticeable on Dulles
when he projected a “serious attack” on the administration and a divided
Congress and nation if the administration took aggressive action. This
view was based in large part on his reading of the State Department’s
internal reports of how elite opinion was reacting to the shelling. His
preference for the UN alternative appears at least partially a response to
his reading of polling results indicating that the public approved of the
UN as a vehicle to resolve international disputes. This effect can be
detected in Eisenhower as well. He formed his perception of the pub-
lic’s attitude toward war in the area based on letters he had received
(relating to the entire Asian region). Based on these data, he understood
the opinion context as opposing American involvement in an Asian
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Actual Public Influence
Predicted Public Influence Influence of Beliefs

Wilsonian
Realist Liberal Beliefs

No Impact/ Constrain DDE: Constrain/ Constrain DDE: Supportive
Lead Lead (strong)

JFD: Constrain JFD: Supportive

Note: Italics indicate conditional predictions.



war, and he also saw (undoubtedly spurred by the public’s opposition to
the Korean war) that the public was skeptical of claims based on nation-
al security in the region. He then used this information to anticipate
that public opinion could not be easily led to support aggressive Ameri-
can action.

In the end, although decision makers largely formulated and imple-
mented policy away from the public eye, public opinion still played an
integral part in their deliberations, but not because a great deal of infor-
mation about public preferences was available or because of a large pub-
lic outcry. There was none. Instead, public opinion influenced policy
because the beliefs of key decision makers predisposed them to consider
public opinion an important part of the decision process. These officials
used the information they had gathered in other contexts and indicators
of public sentiment that they found during the crisis to formulate
nuanced perceptions of future public views. This same process remains
abundantly clear in their reaction to the threat to Dien Bien Phu. How-
ever, as discussed in the next chapter, because the decision context
changed, officials also reacted to public opinion differently than they
did in the Formosa Straits case, as would be expected from their beliefs
about public opinion.
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